IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

CARLIS LINDSEY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 79,933

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Carlis Lindsey is the appellant in this capital case. The record on appeal consists of 14 consecutively numbered volumes, and references to it will be indicated by the usual "R."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Columbia County on June 6, 1991 charged **Carlis** Lindsey with two counts of first degree murder (R 1559). He pled not guilty to those charges (R 1568) and subsequently he and the state filed the following motions or notices relevant to the case:

- a. Motion to appoint defense expert in the field of serology and blood splatter analysis (R 1646-47). Granted (R 1656).
- b. Motion to appoint psychiatric expert (R 1614-15). Granted (R 1610-11).
- c. Motion for additional peremptory challenges (R 1651-53). Granted (R 1625). Lindsey was given a total of 12 peremptory challenges.
- d. Notice of intent by the state to offer Williams rule evidence (R 1666).
- e. Motion to suppress statements made by the defendant (R 1680-81). Denied (R 1688).
- f. Motion to suppress evidence from an unlawful search (R 1682-84).
 Denied (R 1687).

Lindsey proceeded to trial before the honorable E. Vernon Douglas and was found guilty as charged on both counts (R 1703). The jury also recommended the court impose a sentence of death for both convictions (R 1704). It followed their recommendation and justified its decision by finding in aggravation that:

- a. Lindsey had a 1952 conviction for second degree murder.
- b. As to count II, Lindsey had a
 "previous" conviction of first degree
 murder, i.e. count I.

(R 1712).

In mitigation the court found:

- a. Lindsey's age of 66 or 67 was of some but not much weight.
- b. Lindsey's extremely poor health. He has a 50% chance of living more than one year and a life expectancy of no more than five years (R 1713).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

May 1991 found Carlis Lindsey living in Lake City with Lizzette Row, his girlfriend of several months (R 1252). was 21; he was in his mid 60s and in generally poor health, being on several medications (R 1250-51). He had recently gone to Arcadia to bring her home, and he had also given her a small blue car for her to use (R 811-12). A month or so earlier, Row returned the car for him to repair and walked away from Lindsey's house with her sister while the defendant and two other men worked on the vehicle. A short time later, the two men also left, and they stopped the women to talk with them. As Row and her sister stood in the street talking, Lindsey drove the blue car around a corner and came at them. quickly moved to the sidewalk, and he drove the car onto it, but stopped about 8 or 10 feet from them (R 818, 865, 867-68). He said something to Lizzette and appeared upset (R 868). Sometime about then, a friend also saw him with a .12 gauge shotgun (R 1012).

On May 23, about 7 a.m. Row had apparently driven to where her family lived to get her brother so he could help her carry her clothes (R 898). The two left the house, and sometime later Lindsey was seen following Row to his house (R 899, 904). He was driving a station wagon, and she the blue car (R 885). After they returned to Lindsey's home, Stewart and her sister were killed by a shotgun (R 691, 697).

Lindsey was asleep, and when he heard the blasts, he woke up, found the two bodies and called the police (R 749, 756-58).

They showed up a few minutes later (about 7:23), and when asked, he told them he thought the killing was a murder-suicide, even though the murder weapon was never found (R 719). He said he did not think he had committed the murders (R 715). He was also nervous, shaking, and rambling in his conversation (R 766).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Carlis Lindsey presents four quilt phase and one penalty phase issue for this court to consider. In the first issue, he argues that the trial inpermissibly allowed the state to introduce evidence that about a month before the murders, Lindsey had run the blue car he had given Row onto a sidewalk and stopped it about 8-10 feet away from where she and her sister were standing. Ostensibly this incident had relevance to prove his motive in killing Row and her brother. had no relevance to this case because there was as innocent a conclusion to be inferred from this incident as there was a sinister one. The scanty evidence simply does not support the conclusion Lindsey was jealous of Row. That implication arises only (and then weakly) if we assume the defendant knew Row was planning to leave him, and that her departure would be permanent. There is, however, no evidence Lindsey knew anything about her long term plans.

During the state's case, Willie Jenkins testified that on the morning of the murder he heard what sounded like one gunshot. At deposition, he had said that two shots had been fired. Seeking to clarify why this witness had changed his story, he elicited from him that the local gossip was that Lindsey "would get even with whoever said something about him." While evidence of threats show a defendant's consciousness of his guilt and therefore are admissible, in this case, what Jenkins heard people say Lindsey had said was not. First, Lindsey never made the threats, the town gossips apparently did

so. Second, the evidence amounted to a comment on his reputation and that was inadmissible. Moreover, the relevance of this testimony became even weaker when Jenkins said what Lindsey ostensibly said had no effect on him.

The court also admitted evidence that Lizzette Row was planning to leave Lindsey. That was irrelevant because there was no showing the defendant knew of her plans. Moreover, whatever were Row's intentions, they cannot be admitted to prove the defendant's state of mind.

The state also failed to provide sufficient evidence
Lindsey killed Row and her brother with a premeditated intent.
This is essentially a "black box" case. We know three people went into Lindsey's house together on the morning of the murder, but only one came out. The other two were killed. We do not know how they died or why. They could have been deliberately and coldly murdered, or their deaths could have been the result of a heated argument about Row leaving Lindsey or the last Super Bowl. We simply do not know, and just because two people were killed does not by default mean the defendant in this case committed two first degree murders.

If Lindsey had not had a prior second degree murder this case would not merit two death sentences. Murders arising out of domestic squabbles tend not to justify capital punishment. When this case is compared with others similar to this one, Lindsey does not deserve to die.

The conclusion remains the same even though the defendant has a prior murder conviction. That crime occurred 40 years

earlier, and since then the evidence showed he had lived a law abiding life. When this court has affirmed death sentences where the defendant has killed a spouse, lover, or "significant other" it has done so because he had a recent past filled with violent criminal behavior. In this case, Lindsey's past was a generation removed from the current murders, and it should not prevent this court from reducing his death sentence to life in prison.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE THAT AT LEAST A MONTH BEFORE THE MURDERS LINDSEY HAD DRIVEN A CAR ONTO A SIDEWALK AND STOPPED ABOUT 10 FEET FROM WHERE LIZZETTE ROW AND HER FRIENDS WERE TALKING.

Finding a motive for these murders was the state's key problem in this case. It apparently settled on a theory that Lindsey killed Lizzette Row and her brother in a jealous fit because she had planned to leave him (R 1367). The only evidence supporting that motive came from Row's sister, Shirley Johnson, who testified (over objection) about an incident that occurred at least a month before the killings.

Lindsey had given Row a blue car, but sometime in April or early May it developed problems, and he told her to bring it by his house so he could look at it (T 865-66).

Row and Johnson left the car and walked away. Two men who were at the defendant's house, one of whom was a mechanic Lindsey had asked to look at the car (R 878), followed the two women in a car (R 866, 869). Lindsey, in turn, followed the two men in the blue car (R 866). A short time later, the women were standing in the street talking to the men who were in the car when the defendant turned a corner and approached. The men drove off, and the women had to move off the street and onto a sidewalk. Lindsey also drove onto the sidewalk, but he stopped the car about 8-10 feet from where the women were standing and appeared upset (R 818, 867-68, 872).

Also, by this time, Lindsey and Row were either living together or about to do so (R 864). She would stay with him for a while then live with her mother or someone else (R 874). She also wanted to have a child by him, but her family and particularly Johnson tried to dissuade her from selecting Lindsey as the father (R 876).

The state justified asking the court to admit this evidence because it showed **that** "approximately a month or so prior to killing the victims, [Lindsey tried] to kill or hurt the victim, because, most likely, because of jealousy, which would be one of the theories in the State's case, in trying to run over her and her sister because she was talking to some younger men." (R 823)¹

The court erred in admitting this evidence, even though it gave a limiting instruction (R 824) because it had no relevance to prove Lindsey's motive for killing Row and her brother.

Evidence of Lindsey's alleged bad acts is ostensibly admitted under the authority of section 90.404(2) Fla. Stat. (1991):

(2) OTHER CRIMES, WRONGS, OR ACTS.(a) Similar fact evidence of other crimes,
wrongs, or acts is admissible when relevant
to prove a material fact in issue, such as
proof of motive, opportunity, intent,
preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or
absence of mistake or accident, but it is
inadmissible when the evidence is relevant

lone of the "younger" men was in his mid thirties, the
other about 47 (R 870-71). Both were considerably older than
Lizzette.

solely to prove bad character or propensity. If the state had evidence Lindsey was jealous of Row the court could have admitted it because of its tendency to explain why he killed her. See, Jackson v. State, 522 So. 2d 802, 806 (Fla. 1988) (Evidence of prior assault on victim admissible to show revenge motive.) Section 404.14 "Evidence of Other Crimes, Wrongs or Acts-Motive, " Ehrhardt On Evidence. state argued that Lindsey's jealousy so consumed him that for Row to merely talk with other men so enraged him that he tried to run her down. If his anger so drove him then, he would have murdered her a month later after learning she was planning to leave him.² What Lindsey did a month before the killings, however, did not tend to show any alleged jealousy. The car incident was an ambiguous event from which the state must make several inferences to reach its conclusion that Lindsey was jealous of Row.

Primarily, the evidence does not show Lindsey tried to hit Row with his car. True, he had run it onto the sidewalk, but he had also stopped short of hitting Row and her sister by 8-10 feet (R 818). It is just as reasonable to believe, as counsel suggested at trial, that the incident was the result of bad driving (R 824). Or, perhaps he tried to avoid an accident. Recall that Row and her sister were standing in the street,

²There is no evidence Lindsey knew Row planned to leave him.

talking to the two men in the car when the defendant came around the corner (R 815-16, 871). Though the women moved to the sidewalk when they saw the car, and the car sitting in the street also moved away, Lindsey may very well have believed he was faced with an imminent collision. He was, after all, 67 years old and in poor health, so he may have over reacted by driving onto the sidewalk. This conclusion has some support from the additional information that he was upset when he stopped the car. Why he was so was not explained, and he could have been distraught over narrowly avoiding an accident as much as it was seeing (at best fleetingly) Row talking with other men.

Also, the evidence does not show with any convincing power that the defendant followed Row because he was suspicious of her. She had returned the blue car, which Lindsey had given her, to him to fix, and after leaving it with him she and her sister walked away. The two acquaintances Lindsey had flagged down to look at the car (one was a mechanic (R 878)) left sometime later. Lindsey could have followed Row to return the car to her, having already repaired it.

Johnson, Row's sister, said Lizzette planned to leave
Lindsey. She never testified, however, that the defendant knew
that, and in any event, Row had left Lindsey before but

returned to him. ³ There is nothing to indicate that if he knew she was leaving him again, her departure would be permanent and that fact would drive him to murder.

Finally, the month span between the car incident and the murders emphasizes the ambiguous relevance the former had to the latter. At trial, the state cited three cases to bolster admitting the <u>Williams</u> rule incident, but those cases not only are distinguishable, they emphasize the problems the challenged evidence had. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 522 So. 2d 802 (Fla. 1988);

<u>King v. State</u>, 436 So. 2d 50 (Fla. 1983); <u>Santana v. State</u>, 535 so. 2d 689 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988).

In <u>Jackson</u>, the defendant killed McKay, but about two weeks before the murder he had assaulted the victim. This court held that the earlier assault "was not so remote in time as to be irrelevant and supported the state's theory that Jackson's motive for killing . . . McKay was his belief that they were stealing his drugs and taking advantage of him." <u>Id</u>, at 806. The uncontroverted assault by Jackson on McKay readily distinguishes that case from this because in this case there is a question of whether a assault ever occurred.

³The state through sheer speculation argued in closing that Lindsey's jealousy and possessiveness explained why Row left him but would return (R 1367). No evidence exists Lindsey ever forced Row to live with him, or that he kept her in some sort of virtual slavery to him from which she would periodically escape. To the contrary, she was "free to come and go as she liked." (R 1253)

In <u>King</u>, the defendant had beaten the victim 23 days before he murdered him. The evidence of the earlier beating was admissible because it showed the defendant's motive and it helped rebut the defense of misidentification.

Finally, in <u>Santana</u>, evidence of an earlier shooting months before the homicide was admissible to negate the defendant's claim of accident in the charged incident.

In these cases, the earlier incidents clearly were crimes. In <u>Jackson</u>, the defendant assaulted the victim; in <u>King</u>, he beat him, and in <u>Santana</u>, the victim was shot months earlier by the defendant. In this case, what Lindsey did was not so clearly criminal. If the crucial portion of the definition of an aggravated assault is the "intentional, unlawful threat by word or act to do violence to the person of another," section 784.021 Fla. Stat. (1991) then what Lindsey did was not so clearly intentional or unlawful. The circumstances of his driving onto the sidewalk show that what he did may have been nothing more than an inappropriate reaction to a perceived dangerous situation and hence was not an aggravated assault.

See, <u>DuPree v. State</u>, 310 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975); <u>Munday v.</u> State, 254 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971).

The remoteness in these three cases between the time of the earlier crime and the charged one became a relatively unimportant point because the <u>Williams</u> rule incidents were so obviously criminal that they readily exhibit the criminal mind. In this case the inherent ambiguity of what Lindsey did the month before the murders elevates the significance of the

remoteness. If, for example, the state had presented evidence that he had done the same thing a day or hours before the murders, then the latent ambiguity of the alleged assault would not have been so important. Common experience confirms that people may stay mad at someone for a few hours or even a day or two, but the white hot flame of revenge tends to die with the passage of time.

So here, where there is precious little evidence of Lindsey's intent when he drove onto the sidewalk, that event casts no light on what was jelling in the recesses of his mind more than a month later.

The State, however, has a more fundamental problem than simply whether the inferences were justified by the evidence. There simply were too many of them the jury had to accept to connect the car incident with the later murder. They had to infer that Lindsey was possessively jealous of Row, that he knew that the two men he had flagged down had left to talk with only Row, that he followed them because he was suspicious of why they left, that he drove onto the sidewalk to either hit or scare Row (and not her sister), and that his jealousy created such a rage within him that he wanted to run down Row, a girl he supposedly had tender feelings for.

This court has consistently rejected the pyramiding or concatenation of inferences. Decidue v. State, 131 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 1961). Where conclusions of an ultimate fact are based on circumstantial evidence, as they were here, and they are susceptible of more than one conclusion, as they were also

here, the resulting logical framework collapses. It is too weak to justify admitting the questioned evidence. **C.f.,** Hall-v. State, 500 So. 2d 661 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Benson v. State, 526 So. 2d 948 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988).

In this case, the only way the court could justify admitting the car incident was by accepting the inferences listed above. Not only were they based on circumstantial evidence, but, as shown, they could have had either a neutral interpretation or certainly a different one than the state imputed.

This evidence only raised the specter of the defendant's bad character and paraded it before the jury. It was therefore inadmissible in the guilt phase of the trial,

Of course the default argument remains that, even if the trial court erroneously admitted evidence of this incident, such was only a harmless mistake. While this position has become a standard ploy of the state, and one that often has merit, it fails in this case because the court's error fatally prejudiced the jury.

It does so because the state, even with the inadmissible evidence of the encounter a month before the killings considered, had a difficult time inferring Lindsey's motive or intent in killing the brother and sister. Its theory as developed during closing was that the defendant killed his girlfriend because he was possessively jealous of her. The only evidence of that compulsion came from the objected to incident involving Lindsey's poor driving. Without it, the

state and ultimately the jury could only speculate about what happened inside his house on the day of the murder. The killings could have been committed as the state suggested, but as likely they could have been accidental, or done in a moment of intense provocation (manslaughter), or with a depraved mind (second degree murder). Without Shirley Johnson's testimony, the state's case against Lindsey amounted to one which Hercule Poirot or Jane Marple may have solved to a believing reader's satisfaction, but it is one the law in Florida says was insufficient. The trial court's ruling fatally undermined the reliability of the jury's verdict in this case.

Even if the evidence was harmless in the guilt portion of the trial, it was unfairly prejudicial in the penalty phase of the trial because there is no way this uncharged crime could have been admitted. "Hearing about other alleged crimes could damn the defendant in the jury's eyes and be excessively prejudicial." Robinson v. State, 487 So. 2d 1040, 1042 (Fla. 1986).

This court should, therefore, reverse the trial court's judgment and sentence and remand for a new trial.

ISSUE II

THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING STATE WITNESS JENKINS TO TESTIFY ON REDIRECT EXAMINATION THAT HE HAD HEARD THAT LINDSEY HAD SAID "HE WOULD GET EVEN WITH WHOEVER SAID SOMETHING ABOUT HIM."

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