APR 29 1993

CLERK,	SUPREME	COURT
--------	---------	-------

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Chief Deputy Clerk

CARLIS LINDSEY,)	
Appellant,)	
vs.)	CASE NO. 79,933
STATE OF FLORIDA,	}	
Appellee.)	
)	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARY LEONTAKIANAKOS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0510995

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: The trial judge properly admitted evidence of a prior incident between the defendant and one of the victims. The admitted evidence was highly relevant to the defendant's motive for committing these murders. Moreover, by failing to enter a contemporaneous objection at trial, the defendant waived this issue for review.

ISSUE II: The trial judge correctly allowed the state to question its witness about his changed testimony. Any party may attack the credibility of a witness.

ISSUE III: The trial judge correctly admitted evidence that the victim intended to leave the defendant. This evidence was admissible under the state of mind hearsay exception. Moreover, the defendant knew that the victim was leaving him.

ISSUE IV: There was substantial competent evidence of premeditation to support the jury's verdict.

ISSUE V: The defendant's sentence is not disproportionate. The trial judge found two unchallenged aggravating factors, including a prior unrelated murder, and minimal evidence of mitigation.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL JUDGE CORRECTLY PERMITTED EVIDENCE OF A PRIOR ACT BY THE DEFENDANT.

The defense claims that the trial judge improperly admitted evidence of a prior incident between Lizziette Roe and the defendant. A review of the record and the law reveals that this claim is without merit.

During its case in chief, the State presented evidence of a prior incident involving the defendant and Lizziette Roe. Ms. Johnson, Lizziette's sister, testified that the defendant drove a car onto a sidewalk where she and her sister were standing when he saw that they were talking to two younger men (R 867). After stopping the car within a few feet of where they had jumped to, the defendant appeared upset and said something to Lizziette (R 868). There was no doubt in Ms. Johnson's mind that he would have hit them if they had not moved (R 879).

The test for admissibility of evidence is relevancy. Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 210, 213 (Fla. 1984). Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is admissible if it tends to establish motive, intent, absence of mistake or common scheme. Id. Ashley v. State, 265 So.2d 685, 693 (Fla. 1972). Evidence which has a reasonable tendency to establish the crime charged is not inadmissible simply because it points to other possible crimes. Ashley, 265 So.2d at 693.

The fact that this incident took place one month before the murders does not make it any less relevant. Evidence of prior acts has been admitted even if it occured years before the crime. Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988).

The admitted evidence is clearly relevant as it tends to establish motive in this case. The State's theory at trial was that the defendant was so possessive of Lizziette that, when she finally resolved to leave him, he killed her. The incident with the car illustrates this possessiveness and corroborates the other evidence of motive in this case.²

Contrary to the defendant's position, finding a motive for these murders was not a problem for the State. The motive was obvious: the defendant killed Lizziette and her brother because she was moving out and he was helping her. The defendant knew she was leaving him. On the morning of the murders, he told the police that Lizziette was moving out that morning and that she and her brother were in the back bedroom packing up her belongings (R 1312-16).

"All evidence that points to a defendant's commission of a crime is prejudicial. The true test is relevancy." Ashley, 265 So.2d at 694. This evidence was properly admitted against the defendant as it was highly relevant.

Moreover, even if error, the cautionary instruction given by the trial judge properly channeled the jury's focus in considering this evidence. The jury was specifically told that evidence of other acts is to be considered for the limited purpose of proving motive only (R 860). Both the defense and the State were consulted on the wording of this instruction (R 824-

When Officer Picklo asked the defendant about his relationship with Lizziette, the defendant said "She's mine." (R 1157).

26). In light of all the other evidence of guilt and motive against this defendant any error was harmless.

Finally, it should be noted that the defendant failed to properly preserve his objection to the introduction of this evidence (R 866-868). The law requires contemporaneous objection to the introduction of objectionable evidence. Lawrence v. State, So.2d (Fla. 1993) 18 Fla.L.Weekly S147. This is required even if a prior motion has been denied. Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988) cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1028 (1989). By failing to enter a contemporaneous objection at trial, the defendant has waived this issue for appellate review. Id. Relief should be denied.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL JUDGE CORRECTLY ALLOWED THE STATE TO QUESTION WITNESS WILLIE JENKINS ABOUT HIS CHANGE OF TESTIMONY.

The defendant claims that the trial judge abused his discretion when he permitted the State to question witness Willie Jenkins about his change of testimony. A review of the record and the law reveals that this claim is without merit.

On August 7 of 1991, Mr. Jenkins, a neighbor of the defendant's, testified that at about 6:55 a.m. on the day of the murders, he heard two distinct shots (R 981-983). After the first shot, he went back into his house and then heard the second shot (R 984). On March 12 of 1991, after an all day meeting with the defense, the witness changed his testimony claiming that he was drunk on August 7, 1991 (R 985-987).

At trial, Mr. Jenkins testified that he only heard one noise at around 6:00 a.m. and was not even sure it was a gunshot (R 986). Mr. Jenkins admitted that after his August 7 statement, he heard some people saying that the defendant would get even with whoever said things about him (R 993-1000).

"Any party, including the party calling the witness, may attack the credibility of a witness," Florida Statutes, \$90.608 (1990). Despite the appellant's contention, the state did not use this evidence to establish the defendant's consciousness of guilt. Rather, the questions as to what Mr. Jenkins had heard were proper to test his credibility and explain his change of testimony.

Inconsistent statements and the explanation for them can properly be elicited on direct examination. State v. Price, 491

So.2d 536, 537 (Fla. 1986); Bell v. State, 491 So.2d 536, 538 (Fla. 1986). The appropriate inquiry is whether the probative value of these statements is substantially outweighed by its prejudicial impact. Price, 491 So.2d at 537. A review of the record reveals that the probative value of this evidence was not substantially outweighed by any prejudicial impact.

First, the elicited statement was not a direct threat to the witness but rather something he heard (R 999-1000). Second, this statement was not attributed to the defendant. never argued or intimated that the defendant had authorized these individuals to make such remarks. In fact, the witness himself testified that there was no direct threat to him and that the statement he heard was gossip (R 1003). Finally, the state did not offer this testimony until after cross-examination by the The defense cross-examined this witness about his defense. change of testimony and in the process, attacked his credibility (R 985-987). On redirect, the witness initially denied hearing any statement (R 988). After defense objection and during a proffer out of the jury's presence, the witness admitted to hearing the statement. The trial judge concluded that the state's line of questioning was proper and that in fact, the defense had opened the door to it (R 997).

Even if error, this testimony was harmless. Koon v. State, 513 So.2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1987). In light of all the other

In <u>Price</u>, this Court held that the objectionable statements far outweighed their probative value. These statements involved the direct threats of a third party that the witness would be shot if he testified against the defendant, a scenario far different than the one here. <u>Id.</u> at 537.

evidence of guilt against the defendant, there is no reasonable possibility that this jury convicted him because of some statement that Mr. Jenkins heard. The only thing the admitted statement did was help explain the witness' change in testimony.

The objectionable statement was not offered for its truth but rather for its impact on the witness. "The fact that a witness has been threatened with respect to his testimony may bear on his credibility regardless of who made the threat." Koon, 513 So.2d at 1256.

If the defense was concerned about the impact of this statement on the jury it could have asked for a limiting instruction. Brumbley v. State, 453 So.2d 381, 385 (Fla. 1984); Sias v. State, 416 So.2d 1213, 1218 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982). This it chose not to do (R 1007). To now complain that this questioning requires a new trial is improper. Relief should be denied.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE THAT LIZZIETTE ROE INTENDED TO LEAVE THE DEFENDANT.

The defendant claims that the trial judge improperly allowed evidence of the victim's intent to leave the defendant. A review of the record reveals that this claim is without merit.

On the day of the murder, Lizziette Roe recruited the help of her brother, John Steward, to help her move her belongings from the defendant's house. In fact, John Steward was shot while tending a laundry basket with his sister's clothes. He fell face down in it and was found that way by the police.

The defendant knew that Lizziette was leaving. He was seen following her to and from her house when she went to pick up her brother. The defendant told the police that on the morning of the murders, the victims were in the middle bedroom packing up Lizziette's belongings. (R 1312-16).

During the State's case in chief, Shirley Johnson, the victim's sister, was allowed to testify over defense objection as to when Lizziette was planning to leave the defendant. The defense did not object to the now complained of testimony that Lizziette was planning to leave. Their objection was to the time frame (R 864-5). As there was no contemporaneous objection to this testimony, the issue is now procedurally barred from appellate review. Leonard v. State, 423 So.2d 594, 595 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982).

Even if preserved, the testimony was properly admitted. Ms. Johnson's testimony regarding her sister's intent to leave the defendant was admissible evidence of the victim's state of mind

under Section 90.803(1)(a), Florida Statutes. It explains the victim's action of getting her brother to help her with her belongings, unlike the cases cited by the defense where the victim's claims of fear of the defendant were erroneously introduced to establish the defendant's state of mind.

The victim's leaving was a fact, a piece of the puzzle, helpful to understanding why these horrible crimes were committed. The State did not seek to improperly attribute some emotion of the victim to the defendant but rather to supply a reason for these heinous crimes.

Moreover, the State proved that the defendant knew that Lizziette was leaving him. Ms. Johnson's testimony was not a great revelation to the jury as the defendant's own statement established his knowledge of this fact. Therefore, any error in admitting this evidence was harmless. Down v. State, 574 So.2d 1095, 1098-99 (Fla. 1991); Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562, 565-66 (Fla. 1988) Cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1028 (1989); Brunelle v. State, 456 So.2d 1324 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

ISSUE IV

THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF PREMEDITATION.

The defendant claims that the trial judge erred in denying his motion for judgement of acquittal as there was not sufficient evidence from which the jury could conclude that the defendant premeditated the murders of Lizziette Roe and John Steward. A review and analysis of the evidence presented at trial reveals that this claim is without merit.

Both victim's were killed by a single shotgun wound to the head. The shot that killed John Steward was fired into the right side of his head near his right ear (R 697). The muzzle of the shotgun was between one to four feet away from his head when fired (R 699-700). Lizziette Roe was shot in the face (R 691). The muzzle of the shotgun was within inches of her face when fired.

John Steward was found lying face down in a laundry basket with clothes (R 1091). The physical evidence establishes that he was shot first. Lizziette was lying on her back. Her torso was on top of her brother's legs (R 1091). Both victims were killed instantly and fell where they were shot (R 694, 700). There was no evidence of a struggle or a confrontation.

The defendant called the police at 7:20 a.m. to report "finding" the victims dead after being awakened by two shotgun blasts at 7:10 a.m. The defendant told the police that Lizziette and her brother had come over to pick up her clothes (R 770, 712). He could not explain how the murder took place except to suggest that it was a murder-suicide (R 714, 759). No weapons

were found in the room or anywhere else in the house (R 719, 760). The back door was locked from the inside and all the windows were closed (R 771, 773-74).

Lizziette Roe had resolved to leave the defendant on the day of the murder. She recruited the help of her brother John to get her belonging out of the defendant's house. The defendant was seen following the victim to and from her house when she went to get her brother. He was described as following her closely and as being intently focused on what he was doing. His neighbors saw him let the victims in his house. Fifteen minutes before the police arrived the defendant was again seen driving his car. He was alone and driving very fast. The police combed the area but never found the murder weapon.

Evidence of premeditation need not and often cannot be proven by direct evidence. It may be proven by circumstantial evidence. Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984 (1982). A jury is instructed to look at the conduct of the accused and the circumstances of the killing to determine if premeditation exists.

Premeditation can be formed in a moment and need only exist long enough to allow the defendant to be aware of what he is doing and its consequences. Deangelo v. State, So.2d, (Fla. 1993) 18 Fla.L.Weekly S236. The trial judge should not grant a motion for judgment for aquittal unless there is no sustainable view of the evidence which the jury might take favorable to the State. Id. A jury is not required to believe the defendant's version when the State has presented conflicting evidence. Id.

In determining whether sufficient evidence of premeditation exists, this Court has recognized five pertinent factors from which premeditation can be inferred: (1) the nature of the weapon used, (2) the presence or absence of adequate provocation, (3) previous difficulties between the parties, (4) the manner in which the homicide was committed, and (5) the nature of the wounds inflicted. Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284, 289 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, ____ U.S. ___, 111 S.Ct. 2275, 114 L.Ed.2d 726 (1991). An application of these factors to the facts of this case reveals that there was more than sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict.

The weapon used in this case was a twelve gauge shotgun loaded with twelve gauge number one buckshot. The defendant correctly concedes that this is a particularly lethal weapon. Moreover, the "disappearance" of this shotgun immediately after the crimes is inconsistent with a heat of passion killing. The defendant had the presence of mind to remove the evidence, call the police to report his "findings" and compose himself in a matter of minutes.

There is no evidence of provocation or any type of struggle in this case. No weapons were found on the victims. The way the victims were found indicates that they were shot while gathering Lizziette's clothes. John Steward probably did not even know what hit him as the shot was fired into the right side of his head and dropped him where he stood, into a basket of clothes.

The only evidence of previous difficulties between the parties was the defendant's possessive behavior. Ms. Johnson, the victim's sister relayed an incident where the defendant

became upset that Lizziette was talking to other men and drove a car onto the sidewalk where she was standing nearly hitting her. When asked about his relationship with the victim, the defendant told the police: "She's mine." There is no evidence that the defendant had any previous difficulties with John Steward.

The manner in which the homicides were committed is also telling. John Steward was shot first in the side of the head. The only reason to kill John Steward first was to prevent him from coming to the aid of his sister. The defendant also conveniently eliminated the only possible witness to Lizziette's murder.

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